
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 
 
LENERE SMITH,     ) 

 )  
Plaintiff,   )  

 ) NO.   
vs.       ) 
       )  
CHICAGO POLICE OFFICER DANIEL  ) 
SMITH, STAR #19200; UNKNOWN   ) 
CHICAGO POLICE OFFICER,    ) 
Individually and as Employees/Agents of the ) 
CITY of CHICAGO, a Municipal Corporation, ) 
and the CITY of CHICAGO, a Municipal          ) 
Corporation,      ) JURY DEMAND 
   Defendants.   ) 
 

COMPLAINT AT LAW 

   NOW COMES, LENERE SMITH, by and through his attorney, MICHAEL D. ROBBINS, 

MICHAEL D. ROBBINS & ASSOCIATES, and in complaining of the Defendants, CHICAGO 

POLICE OFFICER DANIEL SMITH, STAR #19200; UNKNOWN CHICAGO POLICE OFFICER 

and the CITY OF CHICAGO, states as follows:  

INTRODUCTION 

1. This is an action for civil damages brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Sec. 1983 for the 

deprivation of Plaintiff’s Constitutional rights.  This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

Sec. 1331 and 1343. 

2. Venue in this district is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C sec. 1391 (b), because the facts 

which give rise to the claims asserted herein occurred in the Northern District of Illinois. 

3. Plaintiff, LENERE SMITH, is an individual who at all times relevant hereto was 

living in the Northern District of Illinois. 
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4. Defendants, CHICAGO POLICE OFFICER DANIEL SMITH, STAR #19200 and 

UNKNOWN CHICAGO POLICE OFFICER, were at all times material hereto, duly appointed 

Chicago Police Officers employed by the City of Chicago acting in the capacity of sworn law 

enforcement officials.  Defendant, the City of Chicago, is a municipal corporation located within this 

district. 

FACTUAL SUMMARY 

5. On January 9, 2012, the Plaintiff had rotator cuff surgery on his left shoulder at the 

University of Illinois Medical Center in Chicago.  

6. Subsequent to his surgery, and continuing to January 21, 2012, the Plaintiff was 

receiving physical rehabilitation for his shoulder and was required to keep his left arm in a sling, 

while the surgical repairs healed. 

7. On January 21, 2012, the Plaintiff was operating a motor vehicle travelling West 

bound on Devon Street, and then turned North bound on Ashland, in Chicago, Illinois. 

8. Plaintiff's vehicle was stopped by the DEFENDANT OFFICERS for an alleged traffic 

violation.   

9. After approaching Plaintiff's vehicle with their guns drawn, the DEFENDANT 

OFFICERS told Plaintiff and his passenger to “get the fuck out of the car.”  When Plaintiff 

apparently moved too slow to satisfy DEFENDANT OFFICER DANIEL SMITH, DEFENDANT 

OFFICER DANIEL SMITH physically and violently grabbed the Plaintiff's left arm, which was in a 

sling, dragged the Plaintiff  out of his vehicle, and threw him face down in the street.  DEFENDANT 

OFFICER DANIEL SMITH then proceeded to place a foot in Plaintiff’s back while pulling the 

Plaintiff’s arms behind his back, in an effort to handcuff the Plaintiff. 

10. When his arm was forcibly removed from the sling, Plaintiff suffered excruciating 

pain in his injured shoulder, screamed and pleaded with the DEFENDANT OFFICER DANIEL 
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SMITH that his shoulder was injured and to stop pulling his arm behind his back.  Plaintiff was 

ultimately handcuffed with his arms in front of his body. 

11. When the Plaintiff was dragged out of his vehicle, the Plaintiff’s companion also told 

the UNKNOWN DEFENDANT OFFICER that Plaintiff’s arm was in a sling and that he recently 

had surgery on his arm.  The UNKNOWN DEFENDANT OFFICER ignored the warning and 

continued to watch as DEFENDANT OFFICER DANIEL SMITH tried to force Plaintiff’s injured 

arm behind his back.  

12. After he was arrested and handcuffed, the Plaintiff was transported to a police station 

where he was issued citations for Failing to Yield to Emergency Vehicle and Disobeying Turn Signal 

Indicator.  Plaintiff was released upon posting of bail, several hours later. 

13. The actions of DEFENDANT OFFICER DANIEL SMITH in throwing the Plaintiff to 

the ground, forcing his arm from the sling and trying to handcuff his arm behind his body caused 

Plaintiff great pain and resulted in the re-injury of the surgically repaired shoulder.   

14. A subsequent MRI showed that a “suture anchor” which was placed in Plaintiff’s 

shoulder during the January 9, 2012 surgery, was partially forced out of the bone in Plaintiff’s 

shoulder.  As a result of the re-injury to his shoulder, the Plaintiff had to undergo an additional 

surgery on March 19, 2012, to repair damage caused by DEFENDANTS. 

COUNT I 
42 U.S.C. § 1983: False Arrest/Unlawful Detention 

 
 15. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates paragraphs 1-14 as fully stated herein.  

 16. As described above, DEFENDANT OFFICERS falsely arrested and unlawfully 

detained Plaintiff without justification and without probable cause. 

 17. The misconduct described in this Count was undertaken with malice, willfulness, 

 and reckless indifference to the rights of others, and specifically, the rights of the Plaintiff.  
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 18. As a result of the above-described wrongful infringement of Plaintiff’s rights, 

Plaintiff suffered damages, including but not limited to mental distress and anguish.  

COUNT II 
42 U.S.C. § 1983: Excessive Force 

 
 19. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates paragraphs 1-14 above as fully stated herein. 

 20. The acts of DEFENDANT OFFICERS were a deliberate and malicious deprivation of 

the Plaintiff’s constitutional rights against excessive force as guaranteed to the Plaintiff by the Fourth 

Amendment of the Constitution and made applicable to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment. 

 21. As a result of the unreasonable and unjustifiable excessive force used by the 

DEFENDANT OFFICERS, the Plaintiff suffered physical and emotional injuries, and other damages 

in violation of 42 U.S.C. 1983. 

COUNT III 
Common Law Battery 

 

 22. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1-14, as if fully set forth at this point.  

23.   The acts of DEFENDANT OFFICER DANIEL SMITH in physically pulling the 

Plaintiff from his vehicle, throwing Plaintiff to the ground, and removing Plaintiff’s arm from the 

sling, and forcing Plaintiff’s arm behind his back, were a willful and wanton act of violence against 

the Plaintiff, which was committed without any cause or justification.  

 24.   As a direct and proximate cause of the aforementioned willful and wanton conduct of 

the DEFENDANT OFFICERS, Plaintiff, LENERE SMITH, suffered serious and permanent physical 

and psychological injuries.  

25.  Defendant, the CITY OF CHICAGO, is a municipal corporation responsible for the 

Chicago Police Department, and for the supervision and conduct of Chicago Police Officers, 

including the DEFENDANTS OFFICERS, while they are on duty. 
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 26.  Defendant, the CITY OF CHICAGO, is vicariously liable under the doctrine of 

respondeat superior for the willful and wanton misconduct of its agents and employees, specifically 

the Chicago Police Officers herein described who, acting within the scope of their employment, 

breached the aforementioned duty set forth above and incorporated herein.   

 27. As a direct and proximate cause of the aforementioned willful and wanton conduct on 

the part of the CITY OF CHICAGO, through its agents and employees, CHICAGO POLICE 

OFFICER DANIEL SMITH, STAR #19200 and UNKNOWN CHICAGO POLICE OFFICER, 

Plaintiff, LENERE SMITH, sustained serious physical and psychological injuries which he continues 

to suffer to this day.  

COUNT IV 
State Law Claim – Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress 

 
 28. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates paragraphs 1-14 above as fully stated herein. 

 29. The acts and conduct of CHICAGO POLICE OFFICER DANIEL SMITH, STAR 

#19200 and UNKNOWN CHICAGO POLICE OFFICER, in taking the Plaintiff's arm out of a sling, 

and forcing his injured arm behind his back, was done solely for the purpose of causing Plaintiff 

excruciating pain, and was thereby extreme and outrageous behavior.  The unlawful acts of the 

DEFENDANTS inflicted severe emotional distress upon the Plaintiff. 

 30. DEFENDANTS’ actions and conduct did directly and proximately cause severe 

emotional distress to Plaintiff and thereby constituted intentional infliction of emotional distress. 

 31. The misconduct described in this Count was undertaken with malice, willfulness, and 

reckless indifference to the rights of Plaintiff. 
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COUNT V 
Failure to Intervene 

 
 32. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates paragraphs 1-14 above as fully stated herein. 

33. UNKNOWN CHICAGO POLICE OFFICER knew, or should have known, that 

CHICAGO POLICE OFFICER DANIEL SMITH, STAR #19200 was using excessive force on the 

Plaintiff as described above.   

34. UNKNOWN CHICAGO POLICE OFFICER observed the use of excessive force by 

his partner and had a realistic opportunity to prevent or limit the harm to Plaintiff, but failed to take 

reasonable steps to prevent the harm from occurring to the Plaintiff. 

35. UNKNOWN CHICAGO POLICE OFFICER's failure to take reasonable steps to 

prevent harm from occurring to the Plaintiff caused the plaintiff harm, including, but not limited to, 

physical pain and suffering and mental stress and anguish. 

36. The conduct described in this Count was undertaken by the UNKNOWN CHICAGO 

POLICE OFFICER under the color of law and within the scope of his employment such that his 

employer, the City of Chicago, is liable for their actions.  

Count VI 
Indemnification 

 37. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates paragraphs 1-14 above as fully stated herein.   

 38.      In Illinois, public entities are directed to pay any tort judgment for compensatory 

damages for which employees are liable within the scope of their employment activities.  735 ILCS 

10/9-102. 
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  39. The DEFENDANT OFFICERS acted within the scope of their employment in 

committing the misconduct described herein.  Therefore, Defendant City of Chicago is liable as their 

employer for any resulting damages or award of attorney’s fees. 

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

40. Plaintiff, LENERE SMITH, respectfully requests that the Court: 
 

a. Enter judgment as to each claim in his favor and against Defendants, CHICAGO 
POLICE OFFICER DANIEL SMITH, STAR #19200 and UNKNOWN 
CHICAGO POLICE OFFICER; 

 
b. Award compensatory damages against Defendants, CHICAGO POLICE 

OFFICER DANIEL SMITH, STAR #19200 and UNKNOWN CHICAGO 
POLICE OFFICER; 

 
c. Award reasonable attorneys’ fees against Defendants, CHICAGO POLICE 

OFFICER DANIEL SMITH, STAR #19200 and UNKNOWN CHICAGO 
POLICE OFFICER; 

 
d. Award punitive damages against CHICAGO POLICE OFFICER DANIEL 

SMITH, STAR #19200 and UNKNOWN CHICAGO POLICE OFFICER in their 
individual capacities; and  

 
e. Grant any other relief this Court deems just and appropriate. 

 
JURY DEMAND  

Plaintiff, LENERE SMITH, demands a trial by jury under the Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 38(b) on all issues so triable.  

Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ Michael D. Robbins 
MICHAEL D. ROBBINS 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

Michael D. Robbins 
Michael D. Robbins & Associates 
150 North Wacker Drive, Suite 2460 
Chicago, Illinois 60606 
(312) 899-8000 
Fax: (312) 781-9123  
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